
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 23RD OCTOBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.30 pm.  
This meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Children’s Services Inspection 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

3 - 8

4. Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Report 
2017-2018 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

9 - 14

5. Annual Report on Social Services 2017-2018 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

15 - 54

6. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19 
To consider the attached report 55 - 66

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair)
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, D Sammon and 
I Thomas

Co-optees: M Elford and B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Children’s Services Inspection   
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Scrutiny Committee in September 2018 received an information report that outlined a 

summary of strengths and development areas highlighted in the recent Care 
Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Children’s Services Inspection Report.  This report 
provides Scrutiny Committee with the Action Plan that is in place to address the 
areas for improvement.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Scrutiny Committee receive this report and raise any questions or challenge 

that might lead to improvements. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertook an inspection of services for children in 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (CBC) during April and May 2018.  
 
3.2 The inspection focused on the effectiveness of local authority services and 

arrangements to help and protect children and their families including:  
 

 the experience and progress of children on the edge of care, children looked after 
and care leavers including the quality and impact of prevention services, the 
effectiveness of decision-making, care and support and pathway planning; 

 the arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after and children 
who return home including the use of fostering, residential care and out of local 
authority area placements; and  

Date Written October 2018 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd 

Service Area Children’s Services  

Committee Date 23rd October 2018 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 The quality of leadership, corporate parenting and governance arrangements in 
place to determine, develop and support service sufficiency and delivery 
particularly in relation to looked after children, care leavers and their families. 

 
3.3 Whilst the main focus of the inspection was on the progress and experience of 

children and young people looked after and care leaver’s transition into adulthood, 
the inspection included a focus on children, young people and their family’s 
engagement with:   

 

 Information, Advice or Assistance (IAA), preventative services; 

 Assessment/reassessment of needs for care and support and care and support 
planning;  

 Child protection enquiries, procedures, urgent protective action, care and support 
protection plans. 

 
3.4 Inspectors read case files, interviewed staff and administered a staff survey, 

interviewed managers and professionals from partner agencies.  Inspectors talked to 
children and their families wherever possible.  Young people and care leavers 
attended two focus groups. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 At Scrutiny Committee in September 2018, the Action Plan was in development. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The Action Plan has now been developed and agreed and is included below.

Page 4



 Children’s Services Post Inspection Action Plan 2018-19  
 

 CIW Area for Improvement  Outcome  What needs to happen? By who and 
by when? 

BRAG  Update / review  

1. Improve arrangements for 
transfer of cases from Intake. 

 
10. There is a need to strengthen 

the transfer of cases between 
teams.  The development of 
a formal transfer policy is 
currently being undertaken 
and this needs to be 
embedded throughout 
practice and monitored as 
part of the quality assurance 
framework. 

 

 Manageable caseloads. 

 No delay in transfer. 

 This has been achieved 
under the Prevention of 
Delays in Allocations 
process implemented 
ahead of the inspection, 
accompanied by 
improved working with 
Agency provider.  But 
we will:   

 

 Review The Case 
Transfer Policy. 

PO for EH 
and W-B 
 
1.11.18 

 No further delays in 
transfer reported to 
Children’s Services 
Management Team.  

2. Greater consistency in the 
quality of assessments 
including detailed analysis of 
strengths and risks. 

 

 Practice standards in 
assessment and 
analysis are 
documented and 
understood. 

 Staff are trained and 
supported to achieve 
these standards.  

 Managers support 
consistency in their sign 
off. 

 Assessment quality 
improves and greater 
consistency.  

 

 Quality Assurance 
group will oversee 
development of a guide 
to staff about 
assessment and 
analysis – setting out 
what good looks like. 

 Quality Assurance 
group will develop a 
standard tool to inform 
manager sign off. 

 Quality Assurance 
Group will provide 
training colleagues with 
a training needs 
analysis for 
commissioning future 
training and coaching. 

 

Chair of QA 
Group 
 
1.2.19 

  
 

P
age 5



3. Further development of 
Pathway Planning to meet 
the requirement of the Social 
Services and Well Being 
(Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), 
particularly in relation to 
Personal Advisors and When 
I am Ready guidance. 

 

 Care Leavers are 
supported by personal 
advisers from 16 years. 

 Care Leavers report 
satisfaction with the 
support. 

 Increased numbers of 
Care Leavers are in 
stable accommodation, 
employment, education 
and training. 

 Business case to 
improve the 
specification and 
enhance the provision 
to include 16 + PA 
support. 

 Review When I am 
Ready publication with 
care leavers, staff and 
providers and re-launch. 

PO 
Permanence  
 
1.12.18 

  

4. Further work is required to 
ensure partner agencies 
have a clear and shared 
understanding of significant 
harm when making referrals 
to the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub. 

 Information sharing in 
C1 is timely and 
appropriate. 

 Partners are clear and 
can access information 
and advice. 

 Discussion with partners 
about this at 
Safeguarding  Board on 
27.9.18 

PO for 
Safeguarding 
1.12.18  

  

5. Further development is 
required to embed the risk 
management model and the 
multi-agency risk assessment 
form (MARAF) with staff and 
partners, with assurance 
mechanisms to ensure 
compliance, quality and 
impact of services to young 
people and families. 

 

 Consistent approach to 
assessment and 
management of risk. 

 

 Practitioner led 
programme of peer 
support groups is 
established. 

 The MARAF will be 
included in all case 
audits. 

 Managers meet to 
discuss outcomes of the 
peer support groups to 
consider further learning 
and impact of the 
MARAF. 

 Independent Chairs will 
monitor at Child 
Protection Conference, 
giving early alert to PO 
of any lapse. 

 

PO for EH 
and W-B and 
PO for 
Safeguarding  
 
31.3.19 

  

P
age 6



6. Ensure strategic plans are 
owned and understood by 
staff and are used to drive 
practice. 

 

 Staff contribute to staff 
briefings where we 
develop our service 
strategy. 

 

 Continue staff briefings.  

 Develop a one minute 
guide for staff meetings.  

Head of 
Service 
1.12.18 

  

7. Further work is required to 
develop a more 
comprehensive quality 
assurance system that 
strengthens the link between 
strategy and improving 
practice.  This should also 
include improved focus on 
the frequency, consistency 
and quality of front line 
supervision. 

 

 Practice continues to 
improve. 

 We understand service 
user experience and 
how to improve 
outcomes.  

 Quality assurance 
Framework is signed off 
and being implemented. 

   

8. Continue to prioritise the 
workforce strategy to focus 
on staff retention and the 
timely recruitment of 
experienced staff.  

 

 MT Children’s Services 
is an attractive place to 
work and develop. 

 Workforce strategy has 
been signed off and will 
continue to be 
developed. 

HR  
Workforce 
Adviser  

  

9. Review panel arrangements 
to ensure there is clarity of 
purpose, timeliness of 
decision making and 
engagement from partners. 

 

 One multi–agency panel 
to coordinate work. 

 Revised terms of 
reference to be 
developed and agreed. 

 Revised Panel 
arrangements to be 
implemented. 

 

Head of 
Service  
 
1.12.18 

  

 

 
 

 

P
age 7



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Children’s Services Strategy is: 

 

 Earlier intervention to prevent escalation of need – making sure that children and 
their families receive the right help at the right time to prevent unnecessary 
escalation of need. 

 Enhancing services at the Edge of Care – making sure intervention is evidenced 
based to prevent further escalation of need.  

 Success, Stability and Transient – making sure that looked after young people 
and care leavers achieve stable and successful lives as a basis form where to 
transition into adulthood. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 The Action Plan will be updated and Monitored at both Children’s Services 

Manager’s Meeting with regular reporting to the Chief Officer and CIW lead 
inspector. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 This area of business is located in the following wellbeing objective: 
 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.   

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
                          CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES  
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 
 

Page 8



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2017-
2018 
 

 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to share with Cabinet the Annual Report for 2017-18 for 

the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (Children, Adults and MASH) 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members note and endorse the content of the Cwm Taf 

Safeguarding Board Annual Report for 2017-18. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB) is a statutory partnership made up of the 

agencies that are responsible for safeguarding children and adults at risk in Cwm 
Taf.  The aim of the Board is to ensure that people of all ages are protected from 
abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm.  This also involves preventing abuse, neglect 
or other kinds of harm from happening.  

 
3.2 The work of the Board is delivered via a Sub Group structure, which aims to support 

multi-agency safeguarding in Cwm Taf.  The Lead Partner (Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council) employs the staff of the Board Business Management Unit 
and holds the Board budget, to which the statutory partner agencies contribute.   

 
3.3 The two key safeguarding objectives of protection and prevention underpin the work 

of the Board and inform the priorities each year. 
 

Date Written October 2018 

Report Author Nicola Kingham 

Service Area Safeguarding  

Committee Date 23rd October 2018 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



3.4 The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) sits within the structure of the Board to 
enhance safeguarding practice, with agencies working together in one place to 
receive all safeguarding referrals and share relevant agency information to make 
collaborative decisions.  

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The CTSB has a statutory responsibility to publish an Annual Report on 31st July 

each year, to demonstrate its effectiveness in exercising its functions in the 
preceding financial year.  

 
4.2 The purpose of the Annual Report is twofold; it is a tool of accountability and a tool 

for evaluation.  Accountability has three components: 
 

 accountability to the public; 

 accountability to the statutory partner agencies of the Board; and 

 accountability to the inspectorate bodies. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1  The required content of the Report is set out in the statutory guidance under Part 7 

of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.  A summary of some of the 
key achievements included in the report is provided below: 

 
5.1.1 Safeguarding Practice 
 

 The Cwm Taf MASH led on an Information Sharing System Working Group (with 
Cardiff and Bridgend MASH) to source alternative options to the current MHUB IT 
system (to be carried out in 2018). 

 A review of the adult and children safeguarding processes and the thresholds for 
decision making within the MASH was carried out.  This has provided the Board 
with a better understanding of where there are perceived differences between the 
two local authorities and how partner agencies can work together to overcome 
barriers that may cause delays in decision making. 

 The introduction of a MASH Quality Assurance Group has enabled the Board to 
focus on the front-end safeguarding referrals and how the MASH systems and 
processes are ensuring that these are dealt with appropriately. 

 The Board commenced one Adult Practice Review which was published in April 
2018.  One Child Practice Review commenced and two joint Child/Adult Practice 
Reviews were published, having commenced in 2016.  The time taken to 
complete these reviews was due to the complexity of both cases. 

 
5.1.2 Safeguarding Specific Groups of People 
 

 There was a specific focus during the year to ensure that providers of services in 
Cwm Taf had an improved awareness of safeguarding and how concerns are 
reported.  This resulted in a total of 16 care providers receiving Level 2/3 
safeguarding training. 

 Lessons learned from our two published Reviews identified a need to ensure that 
the transition to adulthood for young people is managed more effectively to 

Page 10



reduce the risks of harm.  A multi-agency task and finish group was set up to 
develop a set of transition principles for agencies to adopt.  

 Over 60% of safeguarding reports for adults are for those over 65 years old and a 
significant proportion of these are for older people with dementia.  This year we 
have strengthened the questions asked by Safeguarding Officers around the 
adult at risk's decision making ability by adding additional questions to the case 
management tool.  

 The local authorities have increased access to advocacy for people who need 
support to participate in safeguarding processes. 

 The focus of the Board in relation to the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
continues to be on safeguarding those people who are most in need.  Whilst 
waiting lists for assessments remain high, every case is risk-assessed, prioritised 
and a review programme is in place. 

 One of our priorities for 2017-18 was to work with the Cwm Taf Together for 
Mental Health partnership to support children and young people with mental 
health and emotional wellbeing needs.  A workshop with all partners was held in 
February 2018 to develop a plan to take this work forward into 2018-19.  

 The Board has acknowledged that a clear policy is needed to manage children 
placed outside of the area and also for those placed in other areas from Cwm 
Taf.  We are currently awaiting a national piece of work being conducted by the 
Welsh Government. 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) has continued to be a priority for the Board.  A 
Multi Agency Child Sexual Exploitation (MACSE) group was set up in 2017 and 
has become embedded into the Board governance. 

 The Board still awaits the outcome of the national work on neglect to adopt any 
recommendations for Cwm Taf. 

 
5.1.3 Collaboration 
 

 The Safeguarding Board Business Managers across Wales have continued to 
collaborate during the year. 

 The Board continues to collaborate with the CSP as the agendas are increasingly 
aligned. 

 The Board Chairs, Members and Business Managers have developed good 
working relationships with the Welsh Government. 

 The Cwm Taf representative from the National Board attends the Board meetings 
on a quarterly basis, contributes to discussions and events and shares materials 
relevant to the work and interests of the Board. 
 

5.1.4 Engagement, Participation and Communication 
 

 The Board has been proactive in raising awareness of safeguarding and how 
everyone is able to contribute to keeping people safe.  

 The Board ensures that participation is as inclusive as possible given the various 
needs of professionals, children, young people and adults at risk. This has 
enabled us to improve our engagement opportunities and ensure that the views 
of people contribute to developing best practice, and that frontline staff are 
integral to informing the improvement of learning and development. 

 This has been supported by a number of engagement activities and consultation 
with the people who use our services throughout the year. 

 

Page 11



5.1.5 Information, Training and Learning 
 

 During the year, 150 multi-agency safeguarding training courses were delivered 
to 2,542 delegates in Cwm Taf.  

 The Board also hosted a number of Multi Agency Practitioner events this year to 
share learning with a wide range of practitioners involved in safeguarding.  

 The Board continues to use the Cwm Taf Safeguarding website to share a range 
of information to public and professionals.  This year, two E-Bulletins for 
professionals were published which included a range of topics and news items. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 In addition to carrying out its core functions, each year the CTSB agrees on the key 

priority outcomes for the coming year to support it to achieve its objectives.  The 
following priority outcomes have been identified for 2018-19: 

 

 The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) effectively contributes to 
ensuring that children and adults at risk are able to live safe lives. 

 The performance of the Board and its partners is monitored and reviewed to 
ensure that safeguarding in Cwm Taf is effective. 

 The Board contributes to the development, implementation and monitoring of 
protocols and procedures that support the protection of adults and children and to 
prevent abuse. 

 The Board is aware of the prevalent safeguarding concerns in the area and 
engages in additional activities that facilitate or are conducive to the achievement 
of its objectives. 

 The Board communicates effectively and appropriately with its stakeholders. 

 Practitioners in Cwm Taf are receiving or have access to good quality and up to 
date safeguarding training. 

 The Board will ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in 
their own best interests, need care that may deprive them of their liberty but who 
lack the capacity to consent. 

 The plan also sets out the specific details of how the Board aims to address 
these priorities and the identified improvements to be achieved in 2018-19. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 The Annual Report has been approved by the CTSB and shared with the Welsh 

Government, the National Independent Safeguarding Board and the five other 
Regional Safeguarding Boards. 

 
7.2 A copy of the report has been published on the CTSB website 

www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org  
 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The CTSB Annual Report 2017-18 links with the theme Living Well which includes 

three wellbeing objectives:  

 

 Developing safer communities 
Page 12

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


 People have good physical and mental health 

 People live independently 
 

This report links closely with ‘Developing safer communities’.  We want to motivate 
and support people to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours, build 
resilient communities where people live free from harm and have a good quality of 
life. 

 
 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Annual Report on Social Services 2017-2018 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report is to provide an introduction and summary to the Social Services Annual 

Report for 2017-2018. 
 
1.2 In April 2016 we saw the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014.  This was a significant piece of legislation designed to change the 
relationship between the Local Authority, its partner organisations and the public.  As 
part of the Act, a new Performance Framework was introduced.  The new framework 
resulted in a change to the data and information we collect and the way in which we 
collect it.  We will now be required to gather additional information and report on the 
difference we are making on peoples’ lives. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  Scrutiny Committee Members note and debate the contents of the report. 
  
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Local Authority is required to report annually to Welsh Government on 

performance across its Social Services.      
 
3.2 The Chief Officer (Social Services) in her role as Statutory Director of Social 

Services is responsible for publishing an annual report on performance and the 
effectiveness of social care services across the County Borough.  The Annual Report 
on Social Services 2017-2018 has been produced in accordance with the Annual 
Council Reporting Framework (ACRF) and is intended to provide an overview of our 
performance for the period April 2017 to March 2018; highlighting what we are doing 
well, areas for improvement and our priorities for the year ahead (2018-2019). 

Date Written 12th October 2018 

Report Author Lisa Curtis Jones 

Service Area Social Services 

Committee Date 23rd October 2018 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



3.3 In previous years the Report has focused on five strategic service areas: 
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable People’, ‘Services for Adults’, ‘Services for Children’, 
‘Services for Carers’ and ‘Managing our Business’.  Each section was aimed at 
providing a picture of how well our services have performed over the previous year, 
what we could improve on and the key priorities for the following year. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In 2016-2017 the format of the report changed and now includes six sections: 
 

 Welcome and Introduction. 

 Director’s Summary of Performance 

 How are people shaping our services 

 Promoting and Improving the wellbeing of those we help 

 How we do what we do; and 

 Accessing further information and key documents.    
 
4.2 The difference to previous reports is section 4 where there is now a requirement to 

focus on wellbeing in line with the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014).  In the 
new report format we are asked to provide information on the following: 

 

 Working with people to define and co-produce personal wellbeing outcomes that 
people wish to achieve. 

 Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and 
mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

 Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm. 

 Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society. 

 Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 
personal relationships. 

 Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic wellbeing have 
a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs. 

 
4.3 The draft report attached at Appendix 1 highlights in more detail the priorities we set 

for ourselves last year and what progress we have made against each of these 
areas. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 
5.1 The draft report attached as Appendix 1 is for your consideration and comments.  
 
5.2 The report has also been sent to partners for their comments. 
 
5.3 This year’s report for 2017-2018 sets out our achievements in promoting and 

improving the well-being of those people needing our support.  As part of this report, 
I have set out how we are performing, the developments and challenges we have 
encountered and our priorities for the next 12 months.  

 
5.4 As in previous years, local authorities continue to face significant financial pressures.  

We have continued to work hard to achieve the savings the Council needs to make 
whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide are not adversely 
affected.  

Page 16



5.5 We want to help people to achieve a higher level of well-being.  It also means 
helping people to help themselves, to make better choices and access different 
types of support.  The Council has adopted 5 ways of working which are designed to 
ensure we are in a position to provide sustainable services now and in the future.  
These principles ensure we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the future, a focus on 
‘Prevention’, ensuring our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and other 
partner agencies, that we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our 
services and our partners in their development.  These 5 ways of working were 
introduced with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.  

 
5.6 We continue to be committed to implementing the ‘Five Year Welsh Language 

Promotional Strategy for Merthyr Tydfil (July 2017)’ and actively encourage staff to 
attend Welsh Language courses which we provide in order that the residents of 
Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity to communicate and receive services in Welsh. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
6.1 As outlined in the Annual Report in my role as Chief Officer Social Services, I play a 

key role in ensuring the successful delivery of the Council’s well-being objectives.  
This includes responsibility for the ‘Living Well’ objective which seeks to ensure 
‘people are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health’.  Our priorities are: 

 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm. 

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community resilience. 

 Promoting health behaviors and increased levels of physical activity. 

 Promoting good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health. 

 Providing clear and accessible information and advice. 

 Delivering services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home. 
 
6.2 Within the Annual Report we have highlighted areas we considered last year and the 

improvements or changes we have made.  We have also outlined key priority areas 
for 2018-2019 in respect of social care services.  

  
6.3 As part of our ongoing commitment to ensuring that we work with people of all ages 

and involve them in determining what matters most as a way of identifying personal 
outcomes and working alongside people to co-produce care and support plans we 
will: 

 

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; develop and implement our plan 
for improving the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for children, young 
people and their parents or carers.   

 Re-design the service for care leavers and enhance the pathway and support 
that is available to all carers including young carers. 

 Develop the support that is available to families on the Edge of Care and ensure 
that we have the right evidence based support available and that children can 
grow up with their families wherever that is safe and appropriate 

 Improve the information and support that is available for Special Guardians 
ensuring they have timely advice and support which will prevent placement 
breakdown.  

 

Page 17



 
 

 To ensure the WCCIS system remains fit for purpose since its implementation in 
July 2017; we will carry out a review of what is working well and identify 
opportunities for further improvement. 

 Continue to develop and improve the range and quality of performance 
information available to aid management decision making and satisfy our 
statutory and internal reporting requirements. 

 Work with health colleagues and evaluate GP support worker pilot impact on IAA. 

 Undertake a strategic review of the services supported through the Integrated 
Care Fund. 

 Re-Register directly delivered services such as our residential homes and 
domiciliary care and monitor their requirements under the new regulations. 

 Implement the broader requirements of the social services functions contained 
within the ‘Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act’. 

 Implement the new arrangements for calculating grant allocations for Supporting 
People. 

 
6.4 In respect of Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s 

physical and mental health and emotional well-being in 2018-2019 we aim to: 
 

 Implement the review and re-design of Adult Day Service provision. 

 Undertake a formal evaluation of year 1 impact of the Stay Well @home Service. 

 The Merthyr Tydfil Supporting People (SP) Team commission services based on 
local need to provide housing-related support to vulnerable members of the 
community to promote independence and prevent homelessness.  Future work is 
planned in consultation with multiple departments and sectors to identify areas of 
greatest need in our communities in which to commission services providing 
housing-related support.  

 Develop the services that are available to families on the ‘Edge of Care’.  

 Improve the placement options and support that is available to looked after young 
people and care leavers. 

 Develop our offer to Special Guardians. 
 
6.5 Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm, there are 

a number of areas outlined in the annual report that are also highlighted in the Cwm 
Taf Safeguarding Report. 

 
6.6 Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society.  In 

2018-2019 it is our intention to: 
 

 Implement a draft work plan and engage with children and young people to 
ensure they are involved in the work that we do and are able to reflect their 
concerns more extensively.   

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; we will develop and implement 
our plan for improving the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for 
children, young people and their parents or carers.  

 Agree and start to implement our future model for Day Services provision across 
learning disability day services and for people with dementia.  We intend to 
achieve this through implementation of the Learning Disability Statement of 
Commissioning Intent and the Valleys Life Initiative. 

Page 18



 The Valley LIFE project aims to deliver Local Integrated services for the Frail and 
Elderly, in particular those with early to progressive dementia.  Valley LIFE aims 
to build a new dynamic Health and Wellbeing Hub for older people with cognitive 
and memory problems on the Keir Hardie Health Park site. 

 
6.7 Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 

personal relationships our aims for 2018-2019 include: 
 

 Valley life initiative to redesign services for people with dementia. 

 Progress the recommendations of the regional report for carers. 

 Continuing work aimed at preventing placement breakdown and improving 
outcomes under the Strategy for Success Stability and Transition for looked after 
young people and care leavers. 

 
6.8 Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a 

social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs the priorities for 
2018-2019 are detailed in the report, but in summary: 

 

 The Cost Calculator and associated pricing policy has been implemented across 
the floating support services within Merthyr Tydfil and is planned to be rolled out 
across all services.   

 The 2018 Cwm Taf Regional Strategic Plan sets out the future strategic aims and 
priorities for the Regional Collaborative Committee.   

 Improve the arrangements across the council for transition planning, ensuring 
that early identification maximises opportunities to prevent homelessness, 
enhance planning and stability and improve outcomes. 

 
6.9 Our Workforce and How We Support their Professional Roles, the priorities for 2018-

2019 are: 
 

 Continue the implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social (Wales) 
Act including supporting the domiciliary care workforce to prepare for registration 
and supporting knowledge/role of responsible individuals.   

 Support the training, development and qualification of social care managers: 
including Step Up to Management; Middle Manager Development Programme; 
Team Manager Development Programme; and those requiring registration as 
managers. 

 Ongoing development of approaches to outcome focused care and support 
practice. 

 Support for both Social Work qualifying training and post qualifying training in 
Wales. 

 Enable frontline social care workers to develop their skills overall in relation to 
social care, and support introduction of the revised induction framework from 
April 2018. 

 Enable the workforce to meet regulatory requirements for qualification and/or 
registration using guidance available in the Qualification Framework. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 
7.1 The Annual Report will be presented to Scrutiny and Council.  It will be scrutinised 

and reviewed by Care Inspectorate Wales.  We have the priorities set out as part of 
our Social Services Strategy and we will monitor and review progress throughout the 
year.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The Annual Report on Social Services for 2017-2018 links with the theme Living Well 

which includes three wellbeing objectives:  
 

 Developing safer communities 

 People have good physical and mental health 

 People live independently 
 
These objectives seek to prioritise activities which focus on early intervention and 
prevention.  The priority is to deliver services that support people to lead healthy 
independent lives in a safe environment.  We want to motivate and support people to 
develop positive physical and mental health behaviours, build resilient communities 
where people live free from harm and have a good quality of life. 

 
  
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)  

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES   
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Annual Report on Social 
Services 2017-2018 

October 2018 Unit 5, Pentrebach 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

 

Page 20



 

 1 

  

Social Services Department 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

  
Annual Report on  

Social Services’ 
2017 / 2018 

  

This Report is available in other languages and 
formats upon request. 

 

Email:  ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk 

Telephone:  (01685) 725000 
 

www.merthyr.gov.uk/ACRF 

 

Page 21



 

 2 

Contents 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

■ Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being  
outcomes that people wish to achieve             10 - 13 

■ Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s  
physical and mental health and emotional well-being           13 - 17  

■ Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm    18 - 22 
■ Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in 

society                         22 - 24  
■ Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic,  

family and personal relationships                       24 - 25 
■ Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being 

have a social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 26 - 28 
 
 
 
 
 

■ Our workforce and how we support their professional roles         29 - 30 

■ Our financial resources and how we plan for the future       31 

■ Our partnership working, political and corporate leadership, governance   

and accountability               31 - 33 

 
 
 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction          3 - 4 

Section 4:   Promoting and Improving the wellbeing of those  
 we help                           10 - 28 

Section 5:   How we do what we do                                  29 - 33 

Section 2: Director’s Summary of Performance                5 - 6 

Section 3: How are people shaping our services        7 - 9 

Section 6: Further information and key documents                 34 

Page 22



 

 3 

 
 
 

As our Council’s Chief Officer (Statutory Director) of Social Services, it is part of my job to report to 
you every year on how well our Social Services department is working and how well we are 
performing in helping to provide services to those who need care and support.  
 
This year’s report for 2017 to 2018 sets out our achievements in promoting and improving the well-
being of those people needing our support.  As part of this report, I set out how we are performing, 
the developments and challenges we have encountered and our priorities for the next 12 months.  
 
As in previous years, local authorities continue to face significant financial pressures.  We have 
continued to work hard to achieve the savings the Council needs to make whilst doing our best to 
ensure that the services we provide to you are not adversely affected.  
 
We want to help people to achieve a higher level of well-being.  It also means helping people to help 
themselves, to make better choices and access different types of support.  The Council has adopted 
5 ways of working which are designed to ensure we are in a position to provide sustainable services 
now and in the future.  These principles ensure we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the future, a 
focus on ‘Prevention’, ensuring our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and other 
partner agencies, that we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our services and our 
partners in their development. 
 
We continue to be committed to implementing the ‘Five Year Welsh Language Promotional Strategy 
for Merthyr Tydfil (July 2017)’ and actively encourage staff to attend Welsh Language courses which 
we provide in order that the residents of Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity to communicate and 
receive services in Welsh. 
 
As part of the ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, which was implemented in 2016; the 
information we collect and the way in which we collect it has changed.  We have been gathering 
additional information and reporting on the difference we are making on peoples’ lives which has 
contributed to how we are judging our performance.  The use of “well-being standards” means that 
we take a wider account of the impact that our services are having on people’s lives, their place in 
their communities, family relationships, access to work and education and protecting people from 
harm.  Because of doing things differently we are recording different information and considering 
the impact of services on people, asking ourselves “what difference have we made to people’s lives?” 
 
It is worth noting that 2016 also saw the introduction of the ‘Well-Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act’.  The Act aims to improve the social, economic and cultural well-being of Wales by 
placing a duty on public bodies to think in a more sustainable and long term way.  The Act puts in 
place seven well-being goals that public bodies must work to achieve and take into consideration 
across their decision making.  In addition to this, it is a requirement that public bodies apply the 
‘sustainable development principle’ (otherwise known as the ‘five Ways of Working) to all decision 
making.  We are moving away from being reactive and becoming preventative by thinking long term 
and involving, collaborating and integrating with our communities. 
 
 
 
 

Section 1: Welcome and Introduction    
          

Page 23



 

 4 

Doing different things, working smarter, making better use of our assets has never been so 
important.  The Council intends to make effective use of the Well-being of Future Generations Act to 
safeguard the well-being of Merthyr Tydfil now and over the long term.  The Council has identified 
four key wellbeing objectives – details of which are set out in our ‘Statement of Wellbeing’.  In 
addition to this, we have also documented what we will do and how we will work to deliver our 
objectives (‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community’).   
 
In my role as Chief Officer Social Services, I play a key role in ensuring the successful delivery of the 
Council’s well-being objectives.  This includes responsibility for the ‘Living Well’ objective which 
seeks to ensure ‘people are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health’.  Our priorities are: 
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm 

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community resilience 

 Promoting health behaviors and increased levels of physical activity 

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health 

 Provide clear and accessible information and advice 

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to offer my personal thanks to all the dedicated staff who have 
continued to work very hard to meet the needs of the most vulnerable in our community.  This year 
has continued to be a challenge and we are working to embed the two major pieces of legislation in 
the context of decreasing resources.  Thank you to everyone. 
 

 
 

Mrs Lisa Curtis-Jones 
Chief Officer (Social Services) - Statutory Director of Social Services 

Page 24



 

 5 

 
 
 

 

As outlined in Section 1 last year saw the introduction of two new major pieces of legislation - the 
Social Services and Wellbeing Act and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.  Both required the 
council to strengthen the governance arrangements and performance management, and as a result 
the council undertook a significant programme of preparation which was embedded this year.  Both 
pieces of legislation required us to work more closely with our partners and collaboration.  I feel that 
excellent progress has been made on partnership working in 2017-18.  The Regional Partnership 
Board involving all partners and elected members from both authorities (MTCBC & RCTCBC) meets 
on a monthly basis, and officers meet at the Transformational Leadership Group aside from this.  In 
this arena plans are formulated on a regional basis and as a result new initiatives have been 
developed across Cwm Taf.  We have the Stay Well @ Home Service (SW@H), this service works to 
ensure people are not staying in hospital longer than necessary and they can return home in a timely 
manner with the required package of support.  This prevents bed blocking within the hospital and 
provides better outcomes for patients.  It should be acknowledged that the Integrated Community 
Fund has allowed us to be innovative across the region, as it has provided an extra financial resource. 
 
In respect of SW@H patients have given positive feedback about their experiences of the service.  
This year we have engaged with a number of people to gather views about their experiences of 
various services.  Views not only show what type of service is being offered, but also assists us in 
developing plans for the future.  One of the key areas of engagement this year has been the ‘care 
leaving service’ and we have asked them ‘what services they would like in the future?’  We have 
done this work in collaboration with Voices from Care.  Care Leavers and Children Looked After have 
felt their views have been valued and this will assist us in developing services moving forward. 
 
A challenge this year has been the new WCCIS database.  It was introduced within the last 18 
months.  Staff have undergone training, but are still getting used to the different system.  Initially 
gathering performance data from WCCIS was very challenging, but we are starting to gather more 
data now which will assist in service development and highlight areas that require improvement.  I 
should acknowledge that staff have worked hard to gain knowledge of the new system.  
 
Social Services continues to work alongside colleagues across the Council and in partnership with 
others to deliver effective services to a wide range of people.  As part of this last year the Tackling 
Poverty Strategic Group and Tackling Poverty Board were established.  This work is now well 
established and has allowed us the opportunity to look at all the grant funding received into Merthyr 
Tydfil and consider where monies can be re-invested and try and prevent duplication.  Alongside this 
has also seen the development of the Community Zone, the pilot for this is in the Gurnos and we 
want to provide preventative services together in one venue to improve services to the public.  This 
is still very much in its infancy and hopefully will develop further in 2018-19. 
 
As part of the review of the Tackling Poverty Strategy the Team around the Family has become more 
aligned to the Intake Team within Social Services and investment has been made into the 
Information, Advice and Assistance service. 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 2:   Director’s Summary of Performance   

Page 25



 

 6 

 
Prevention and Early Intervention is key to sustaining services in the longer term.  This year we had 
the introduction of the ‘Edge of Care’ grant which we have used effectively to support children who 
are in crisis and need extra support.  In some circumstances children have required to be looked 
after but we work hard to match them to the most appropriate placement and are given the right 
support early on. 
 
This year there has been lots of positive work undertaken in Social Services.  We continue to support 
adults within their own home and react promptly to safeguarding concerns for both children and 
adults.  This is in the backdrop of financial pressures, as demand is increasing in the service but 
funding reducing.  We have been supported by grants being paid, for example domiciliary 
care/respite provision at the end of the financial year 2017-18 which assisted us. 
 
2017-18 has been a busy year which culminated in a Children Services Inspection in April 2018.  I feel 
overall we have made achievements, which are outlined within the main body of the report and we 
will endeavour to continue this good work moving forward in 2018-19. 

Page 26



 

 7 

 

 
 

We continue to place a high value on the engagement we have with local people, not just in 
evaluating how successful we are in delivering services that they need but in helping us to design 
what we are able to provide at the start.  
 
During 2017/18 we engaged with people in the following ways: 
 

 We commissioned the Institute of Public Care to undertake an engagement exercise with service 
users and stakeholders, which was intended to make sure that we have correctly addressed the 
things that service users told us about and ensure that the ‘Learning Disability Statement’ is 
focussed on what matters to them. 

 In May 2017, our Mental Health services held annual “have your say” service user and carer 
events.  This was an opportunity for service users and carers to comment on their satisfaction 
with the care and treatment planning we provide in partnership with Health colleagues and also 
make suggestions about new developments.  In addition we also held an evaluation of a new 
recording tool with service users which is designed to improve the effectiveness of outcome 
focused care planning with the emphasis on service users’ strengths and resilience.   

 We commissioned the ‘Welsh Institute for Health and Social Care’ (University of South Wales) to 
undertake a review and consultation of the support for Carers across Cwm Taf.  This has resulted 
in suggestions for a regional approach to carer services which are currently being considered as a 
way forward for strengthening these services. 

 Voices from Care worked with looked after young people, ensuring that they had a forum for  
care experienced young people to tell us about their experience - what works and what needs to 
change.  In particular,  young people prepared for a care leavers Conference aimed at setting out 
‘what good looks like’ in  providing support to care leavers 

 During the year young people’s views were sought in relation to the regional strategy for 
children, young people and families  

 In addition to external inspection, internal auditing and residents meetings; as part of our 
arrangements for measuring the quality of our residential care, we encouraged residents, 
families, visiting practitioners and staff to participate in an annual survey.  Overall feedback has 
been positive – these are just some of the comments received: 
 
 “ ….. it is a lovely place to relax and be happy in for the days you have left”. (Resident) 
 “I didn’t think I’d settle as quickly as I did.  Am glad I came here as I have plenty of company 

and the carers are quite cheerful”. (Resident) 
 “I’ve been here quite a while and whatever I ask for attention or anything else I have it”.  

(Resident). 
 The staff are very good with the clients.  They are sympathetic and empathetic to the needs of 

the individuals.  They often share jokes and try to break up the day with games and dancing.  
They also try to engage the more able in small tasks so that their day passes a little quicker 
and relieves the monotony of the day.  One concern that we do have in the family is the 
staffing levels especially at meals times in the dementia unit.   

 
 
 
 

Section 3:   How are people shaping our services?   

Page 27



 

 8 

 Everything is about the clients – so kind.  Nothing is too much trouble for them.  Clients are 
made to feel special.  Visitors are welcome at all times.  The shows that are put on for the 
clients and visitors are wonderful.  I can’t thank you all enough for what you as a manager 
and all your staff do for my mother.  I can sleep at night knowing she is cared for – thanks 
again.     

 

 The consultation to produce the refreshed Autistic Spectrum Disorder Strategic Action Plan by 
Welsh Government has helped to inform the development of the new Cwm Taf Integrated 
Autism Service.  This service provides diagnostic assessment for autistic adults (sometimes jointly 
with other services), support and advice for children, adults and those who support them.  This 
service runs across Cwm Taf in partnership with Cwm Taf University Health Board, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 Through the Cwm Taf Regional Partnership arrangements we undertook a regional engagement 
with stakeholders on the Cwm Taf Regional Plan; which was developed following the population 
needs analysis.  Those who attended the engagement events were encouraged to share their 
own experiences about the care and support they received from health and social care services. 
Topics of discussion included: the importance of good quality, accessible and understandable 
information and advice; ideas for stopping problems before they start; connecting people to their 
communities and working in partnership.  These discussions were invaluable and enabled us to 
identify good practice and turn negative experiences into opportunities for improvement.  
People who came to the events felt of value and wanted to stay engaged. 

 Care experienced young people including individuals from the Merthyr Forum (previously known 
as the ‘Rainbows Group’), in partnership with ‘Voices from Care Cymru’ and Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council prepared for a ‘Care Leavers Conference’ during March and April.  The 
‘Merthyr Forum’ group hosted the conference, co-ordinated stall holders, supported workshops 
and engaged with other young people from Merthyr Tydfil who attended.  The event provided 
the young people with an opportunity to share real life experiences and stories, and tell us what 
good support looks like through their eyes and this work will be a leading factor in shaping future 
services for care leavers.    

 The ‘Merthyr Care Leavers Conference 2018’ was attended by 42 professionals and 12 care 
experienced young people; including individuals from the ‘Merthyr Forum’.  The Conference 
focused on topics such as: ‘Well-being’; ‘Emotional Support and Health’; and ‘Financial Support’ 
in relation to housing, employment and training.  The workshops provided the young people with 
an opportunity to tell us about what support needs to continue, how services need to change in 
order to improve and share new ideas for services. 
 

The Care Levers Conference received positive feedback with 100% of attendees stating that they 
enjoyed the event.  100% of attendees also felt that it was ‘extremely’ or ‘very important’ to bring 
professionals and young people together.  
 

One young person told us that the conference is the “Best thing I’ve been to in weeks!” 
 

In relation to ‘well-being, emotional support and health’ these are some of the things young 
people told us were important to them: 
 

 Having a town centre near the countryside and mountains; having lots of free activities 
available to them such as the Cyfarthfa Museum; culture and music events including ‘Global 
Village’ and ‘Spread the Word’ festival; socialising and meeting new people to stop isolation. 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 9 

 Need to be supported to be the best that they can by being able to talk to and having mutual 
trust with someone like a mentor, teacher, support worker or friend; good educational support 
and teachers/tutors that are motivating; access to the right information and advice that is 
available 24hrs (in particular health matters); mental health and emotional support; and good 
foster carers and outside family support. 

 

When we asked young people for their views on topics such as housing, employment and training 
they told us: 
 

 When moving to independence, it was highlighted that support is needed to carry out practical 
tasks such as cooking and personal care; to understand what to do and where to go when 
things are going wrong; budgeting skills, money management and understanding the benefit 
system.  Financial help is needed to help with independent living and moving to a new place; 
education and equipment needed; driving lessons; gym membership and help to start a 
business.    

 
The experiences and voices of care leavers will be key in influencing change and development to 
services to care leavers, making sure that we improve and deliver on the offer made under ‘Hidden  
Ambition’.  
 
In addition to the above consultation, we also undertook our annual survey with our service users to 
gather their views and feedback about the services they have received.  Unfortunately we didn’t 
have a high number of returns on these surveys that could be of value to assist in future 
development of services.  Feedback from the survey however is reflected throughout this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

 10 

 

 
 

The well-being of those we help and outcomes that people want to achieve are at the heart of our 
approach to delivering sustainable social services.  We have continued to work hard and do our very 
best to meet the well-being outcomes of people who need care and support and carers who need 
support.  We want to ensure that citizens have a voice and real control over their own lives, where 
they can inform us about those things that matter to them.  This means working in partnership 
across other council departments and with external partners; shaping local services according to 
local needs and circumstances.  
 
This section is the main part of the report setting out our performance in promoting and improving 
the well-being of local people who need care and support.  All local councils are required to 
demonstrate how their work is linked to the six National Quality Standards for wellbeing, and in 
doing so set out the priorities we identified for delivery over the past 12 months, plus additional 
priority actions related to new ways of working.  Importantly this is about outlining how we have 
made progress, provided evidence and real life examples of the impact on people, as well as setting 
out priorities for 2018/19. 
 
Our main goal is to “Ensure people are empowered to live independently within their communities, 
where they feel safe and enjoy good physical and mental health”.  This means that we will always 
strive to work with you to identify “what matters” to you, to avoid crises, and how we and our 
partners can help you achieve your personal outcomes.  Importantly we will continuously strive to 
improve the quality of services we provide. 
 

Working with people to define and co-produce personal 
well-being outcomes that people wish to achieve 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
We want to make sure that we make a real difference to people’s lives.  This means helping people 
to solve their problems as quickly and effectively as possible.  For example, we gave Information, 
Advice and or Assistance to people and helped them find their own solutions.  72.83% of adults who 
contacted us didn’t need any further help from us in the following year. 
 
In 2017/18 we identified the following priority areas of work: 
 

 Maintain our good record of assessing the needs of children within the required timescales.  In 
line with our plans to improve, during the past year we increased the number of assessments 
from 880 to 933.  We were able to maintain good timeliness in our response at the front door 
and 87.25% (814/933) of these assessments were concluded within timescales (42 days). 

 Continue to improve the Information Advice and Assistance services to provide people with 
greater control over how their care and support needs are met.   

 
 
 

Section 4:   Promoting and improving the wellbeing of  
   those we help   

Page 30



 

 11 

 Work with you to find better and more immediate ways in which you can tell us what you think 
about our services and how we can improve our conversations with you during our assessments, 
care and support planning and reviews of services.  This will involve thinking of different ways in 
which we can communicate using the wide range of face to face, written and electronic 
technology to help us. 

 Develop our arrangements for an Independent Professional Advocacy service for adults to ensure 
we are supporting adults in this area and that our approach is consistent with the new law.  

 During the year the number of children who needed to be safeguarded by becoming looked after 
increased.  There was also an increase in the number of occasions that we applied to Court for an 
order to safeguard children.  Many authorities across Wales have experienced the same. 
(CAFCASS DATA as evidence).  We have reviewed our plans during the year and will be 
strengthening our work with families on the edge of care making sure that wherever safe and 
appropriate children can grow up in their family network and that professionals and families can 
draw on relevant support services that are essential to making this happen.  

 Work in a co-productive way to improve our Information, Advice and Assistance service to 
children and families so that they have the right early help at the right time. 

 Improve stability for looked after young people and the number of foster carers that are 
available to look after them so that there are fewer unplanned moves for looked after young 
people.  During the year we have increased our foster carer recruitment and retention leading to 
5 new fostering households in Merthyr Tydfil, with other assessments under way. 

 Make sure that looked after young people and care leavers have the educational support that 
they need to be successful and ready for work. 

 Continue development of the stay well @ home service to ensure that people receive the right 
care at the right time in the right place and prevent inappropriate admissions to hospital. 

 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 
 
Over the last year, we have continued to work towards improving the quality of Information, Advice 
and Assistance (IAA) we provide.  In 2017, Children’s Social Services commissioned the ‘Institute of 
Public Care’ to undertake a short review of the current IAA arrangements.  As a result of this review 
and engagement with our stakeholders, this helped us identify what we need to improve or do 
differently if we are to make our IAA service for children, young people and their parents or carers 
more effective.  Areas for improvement highlighted the need to: 
 

 Gain a better understanding of what the public want from the IAA service; 

 Improve the quality and accessibility of information, advice and assistance; 

 Raise awareness of information, advice and assistance available within the community by making  
best use of existing communication tools such as ‘Facebook’ and ‘Twitter’, and exploring  
alternative methods for sharing information; and 

 Ensure staff are able to further develop their knowledge and skills so that they can effectively 
signpost and advise on the support and services available within their community.    

 
We have reviewed the impact of the Stay Well @ Home service over the year and this has shown 
that the service has been successful in supporting people to return home rather than be admitted to 
hospital.  
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 12 

In an annual survey of people receiving support from us, we asked how those services and support 
could be improved, what you would like us to do more of and what you would like us to do 
differently.  In the boxes below are some of the questions we asked you about your experience. 
 
Collecting this information is important to us so we can try and put it right when you tell us you are 
not happy with your services or experience or you would like them to be different.  We also need to 
know when we are successful to ensure that the services you are receiving are effective. 
 
Key: 
 

    

People were happy with 
the service 

People were sometimes 
happy with the service 
they received 

People were unhappy 
with the service they 
received 

People weren’t sure 
about the quality of the 
service they received, or 
didn’t answer the 
question 

 

Out of the 646 adults we asked, only 176 people replied 

and they said they … 

You said you were: 

                        
knew who to contact about their care and support. 115           13            25           23 

had the right information or advice when they needed it. 117           32            14           13 

had been actively involved in decisions about how their 
care and support was provided. 

117           15            20           24 

were treated with dignity and respect. 149             9              4           14     

were happy with the care and support they had. 138           20              7           11 

 

 

 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 
As part of our ongoing commitment to ensuring that we work with people of all ages and involve 
them in determining what matters most as a way of identifying personal outcomes and working 
alongside people to co-produce care and support plans we will: 
  

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; develop and implement our plan for improving 
the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for children, young people and their parents or 
carers.   

 Re-design the service for care leavers and enhance the pathway and support that is available to 
all carers including young carers. 

 

We Asked 245 children (age 7-18) if….  only 35 responded You said you were: 

                      

they had the right information or advice when they needed 
it. 

  28            3             0           4 

                      

Page 32



 

 13 

 Develop the support that is available to families on the Edge of Care and ensure that we have the 
right evidence based support available and that children can grow up with their families 
wherever that is safe and appropriate 

 Improve the information and support that is available for Special Guardians ensuring they have 
timely advice and support which will prevent placement breakdown.  

 To ensure the WCCIS system remains fit for purpose since its implementation in July 2017; we 
will carry out a review of what is working well and identify opportunities for further 
improvement. 

 We will continue to develop and improve the range and quality of performance information 
available to aid management decision making and satisfy our statutory and internal reporting 
requirements. 

 Work with health colleagues and evaluate GP support worker pilot impact on IAA. 

 Undertake a strategic review of the services supported through the Integrated Care Fund. 

 Re-Register directly delivered services such as our residential homes and domiciliary care and 
monitor their requirements under the new regulations. 

 Implement the broader requirements of the social services functions contained within the ‘Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act’. 

 Implement the new arrangements for calculating grant allocations for Supporting People. 
 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will contribute to delivery of the following Council Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals.  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

Working with people and partners to protect and promote 
people’s physical and mental health and emotional well-
being 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   
 

 Continue to work in partnership to develop services to support people to be more independent 
to prevent reliance on services and achieve more control over their lives.     

 Increase the number of people who don’t need ongoing support for more than 6 months after 
they have had a reablement service.   

 
 

Page 33



 

 14 

 Increase the number of people we support, who are caring for an adult or older person. 

 Develop a regional statement of commissioning intent for people with a learning disability of all 
ages.  

 Develop a regional market position statement of the care home sector to provide a basis for the 
future development of a range of care homes to meet the future needs of the people living 
within Cwm Taf. 

 Undertake a pilot scheme providing social care support officers in GP practices so that people can 
receive advice and assistance before reaching crisis. 

 Ensure we provide the right accommodation to meet peoples’ needs to support them to live 
independently.  

 Maintain the progress we have made in relation to GP health care for our Looked After Children. 

 Increase the number of Looked After Children registered and able to access dental care. 

 Support a greater number of young people using the IAA and preventative services. 
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?    
 
We said that we would develop services to support people in being more independent and to 
achieve more control over their lives.  During the year Families First undertook a review of their 
provision aimed at making sure that services met identified need and promoted independence.  
 
We said that we would work with our partners to develop services that help people to be more 
independent.  Together with our partners across Cwm Taf, we have successfully developed and 
implemented the hospital based Stay Well @ Home Service and enhanced the range of community 
support services to enable people to return home rather than having to be admitted to  hospital.  
We have evaluated the service over the year and this has shown that it is effective in helping people 
to return home with the support they require.  In the last year the hospital based element of the 
Stay Well @ Home service undertook 2,426 assessments and 58% of the people assessed were able 
to return home rather than be admitted to hospital. 
 

Stay Well @ Home Service 
 
Merthyr Residents who were discharged from the Stay Well @ Home Service provided us with the 
following feedback: 

 “What a fantastic service, especially as my Mother came home on a bank holiday, which we 
never thought would happen.” 

 "Team did extremely well to get me home." 

 "I was able to go home the same day.  Thank you." 

 "Thank you for all my furniture (equipment) that will help me at home." 

 
Following the research undertaken by the University of South Wales (Welsh Institute for Health and 
Social Care) commissioned by the Cwm Taf Regional Partnership a model for a regional approach to 
support carers more effectively has been put forward and will be developed over the coming year. 
 

Young Carers 
 
Through the use of grant monies, 56 young carers were provided with an opportunity to attend a 
two night residential activity.  The group stayed at PGL Liddington; which is a fully inclusive activity 
centre.  The activities they participated in were abseiling, assault course, trampolining, aeroball, zip 
wire and camp building.   

Page 34



 

 15 

The young carers that attended reported that they thoroughly enjoyed the trip.  For many it 
provided a well-earned break from their caring responsibilities.  The group was able to access an 
opportunity that they may normally have missed out on.  It allowed them to try new activities and 
build their confidence and team spirit.  Sharing rooms helped establish new friendship groups and 
shared experiences.   
 
Those who participated told us: 
 

 “I see residential trips as the only time for me time.” – Aged 14 years  

 “I feel grateful that I have been given the opportunity to attend.  My dad was proud of me for 
trying the zip wire and abseiling as I’m afraid of heights.” – Aged 10 years 

 “I really enjoyed the residential and it has helped me become more involved with people.” –  
Aged 16 years 

 “Being away from my mother has helped me realise how much I do at home and how much 
I need a break for myself.” – Aged 12 years 

 “I get a good night’s sleep when I go away with young carers.” – Aged 9 years 
 
There were 18 young carers who were not able to attend the residential due to various reasons 
including that they were unable to leave the cared for person.  We were able to facilitate a daytrip 
to the trampoline park so that this group was still able to access some respite time from their 
caring responsibilities.   

 
We said that we would develop a regional statement of commissioning intent for people with a 
learning disability.  We have worked with our regional partners and service users and the regional 
statement of commissioning intent for people with a learning disability has been completed.  We 
have now established a number of work groups comprising partner and service user representatives 
to implement the actions identified in the plan.  The priority outcomes that we will be working on 
during 2018-19 are:  

 

 Preventing loneliness and isolation by increasing community inclusion. 

 Looking at how we meet the range of housing needs now and in the future. 

 Improve and increase the options for further education. 
 

We said that we would work with partners to provide the right accommodation to meet people’s 
needs, and we have developed a regional Market Position Statement outlining the number of care 
homes we have now and outlining the number and type of care homes that we will need in the 
future.  We have also worked with Care and Repair through the ‘Enable Grant’ to undertake 
adaptations to a person’s home so that they can remain living there. 
 

 
On average, 85% of clients receiving assistance from Care and Repair stated that their services had 
improved their independence and wellbeing/quality of life. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

 16 

As part of our GPSO pilot scheme, we have been working in partnership with General Practitioner 
(GP) Practices to improve the health and wellbeing of people through the provision of information, 
advice and assistance.  Social care staff, known as General Practitioner Support Officers (GPSO’s), are 
sited in six practices across the County Borough.  The GPSO’s offer timely support to people in order 
that they can remain living independently and help prevent the need for greater support or 
escalation to a crisis situation such as admission to hospital or residential care.  To date, the pilot 
scheme has been successful in providing Information Advice and Assistance and has undertaken over 
3,000 contacts.  The pilot has been extended until March 2019. 
 
The Supporting People (SP) Programme provides essential help to some of our most vulnerable 
individuals.  The strong prevention and early intervention approach reflects the objectives of the 
Housing Act Wales (2014) and the wider Welsh Government legislative agenda to promote and enjoy 
greater independence and reduce homelessness.  This directly links to our Focus on the Future 
‘Living Well’ objective (LW3). 
 
The Supporting People Planning Group (SPPG) took a decision to adopt a fair pricing system: The 
Cost Calculator for all Supporting People schemes in Merthyr Tydfil aim to achieve equity, 
consistency and fairness when contracting for housing-related support schemes under the SP 
Programme.  The consequence of which will inevitably result in efficiency savings for the local 
allocation of funding which could be reinvested locally into areas of greatest need and achieve 
improved strategic alignment and impact.   
 
Whilst there has been progress at the time of writing, maintaining progress we have made during 
the year in relation to GP and dental care for our Looked After Children continues to be a challenge, 
especially for those children who experienced a move and work is under way to challenge this. 
 
During the year we have increased the number of people who access IAA and of those the number 
who go on to have a care and support plan. 
 
Information we received when asking adults about their care and support plans: 
 

We asked you if… You said you were: 

                      
you can do the things you like to do.   84            48           39          5 

you know who to speak to about your care and 
support plan. 

  115          13           25        23 

you were actively involved in decisions about 
how your care and support was provided 
 

  117           15          20        24 

you were treated with dignity and respect.   149             9            4         14 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 17 

In promoting physical health, the sports development team has been working with children as young 
as 12 months.  This work takes place in traditional settings like leisure centres and non-traditional 
settings such as libraries and pre-school provision.  The work in the non-traditional settings involves 
developing the physical literacy approach of providing the children with fundamental movement 
skills around running, jumping, catching, throwing etc.  The aim is to build confidence and social 
abilities.  
 
The Sports Development Team aims to build capacity within providers to ensure consistent delivery 
of the physical literacy approach across Merthyr Tydfil.  This involves working with schools.  The 
support to schools includes training and mentoring to develop capacity and a consistent pathway 
through the physical literacy journey, from nursery through to primary schools to enthuse young 
people about the health benefits of sport and activity. 
 

What are our priorities for next year? 
 
In 2018/19 it is our intention to: 
   

 Implement the review and re-design of Adult Day Service provision. 

 Undertake a formal evaluation of year 1 impact of the Stay Well @home Service. 

 The Merthyr Tydfil Supporting People (SP) Team commission services based on local need to 
provide housing-related support to vulnerable members of the community to promote 
independence and prevent homelessness.  Future work is planned in consultation with multiple 
departments and sectors to identify areas of greatest need in our communities in which to 
commission services providing housing-related support.  

 Develop the services that are available to families on the ‘Edge of Care’.  

 Improve the placement options and support that is available to looked after young people and 
care leavers. 

 Develop our offer to Special Guardians. 
 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will contribute to delivery of the following Council Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals. 
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



 

 18 

Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, 
neglect or harm 
 

In Merthyr Tydfil we believe that all children, young people and adults at risk have the right to be 
safe, happy and healthy and deserve to be free from abuse.  We have a range of duties to help 
safeguard: adults and children, including people with physical, visual mental or learning disability; 
older people who are frail or ill, people in houses or relationships where there may be domestic 
violence; and, children who may be sexually exploited.  We have set out that by 2018, we want to 
have effective early intervention and preventative services for both adults and children.  Within the 
Council we work to ensure that all Council departments have an active understanding of their 
safeguarding duties via the Corporate Safeguarding Steering Group. .    
 
In collaboration with our partners in the Cwm Taf region we ensure that: 
 

 We respond promptly to new concerns about adults and children at risk. 

 Our staff are trained to spot the signs of abuse and know what action they need to take. 

 We ask people who have experienced the safeguarding service for their views and how it could 
be improved. 

 We regularly review what we have done and challenge ourselves to find ways in which we can 
improve. 

 All staff who are employed by us are safe to work with children and adults at risk. 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Safeguarding Practice 
 

 Implement the new national Protection Procedures for both Adults and Children including the 
Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Framework. 

 Improve our quality assurance work, learning lessons that improve practice from Challenging 
Cases and sharing this learning across Children and Adults Safeguarding Boards across Merthyr 
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
 

 Use Review of adults and children’s safeguarding processes and thresholds for decisions when 
new national guidance is available. 

 Ensure robust performance management system in place for MASH. 

 Ensure MASH MHub data sharing information supports adult safeguarding practice. 

 Review the relationship between MASH and domestic violence/sexual abuse protection agencies 
to avoid duplication and increase co-ordination. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

 19 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?   
 
Safeguarding Practice 
 

 We have implemented the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Framework into practice and this is 
subject to ongoing review.  We will continue to monitor the impact of the framework on practice 
and outcomes for children and young people. 

 We have continued to contribute to the review of the National Protection Procedures which are 
due to be issued in 2019/20.   

 We have improved our quality assurance protocols by learning lessons from Challenging Cases 
protocols, quality assurance work, sharing this learning across Children and Adults Safeguarding 
Boards across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  We have implemented the lessons learnt 
into practice which is monitored via the Safeguarding Boards, Quality Assurance Sub-Groups and 
our own internal Quality Assurance Framework. 

 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
 

 We have recently established a Quality Assurance Sub-Group specifically to monitor performance 
within the MASH in relation to Adult and Children safeguarding processes.  The Quality 
Assurance Sub-Group will ensure: 

 
 There are robust performance management systems in place for MASH. 
 MASH MHub data sharing information supports adult and child safeguarding practice. 

 

 We have reviewed the relationship between MASH and domestic violence/sexual abuse 
protection agencies to avoid duplication and increase co-ordination.  We are currently awaiting 
the outcome of this work in order to inform future development and improvement. 

 
Survey with service users in respect of ‘if they felt safe following intervention’: 
 

We asked you if you … felt safe 

 

You said you were: 

                      

Children   31              2             0          2 

Adults 119           37           12          8 

Carers   36             7              4          4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 20 

What are our priorities for next year? 
 
Our priorities for the year ahead are set out in the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Plan for 
2018/19.  These include: 
 
The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) - Strategic Outcome 1 
 

 Improve the co-ordination of information sharing, decision making and integration in order for 
the MASH to continue being effective in safeguarding children and adults at risk. 

 Review information sharing systems to ensure they are effective and identify future 
requirements. 

 Through the MASH Quality Assurance Group, support the development and improvement of 
MASH safeguarding processes to ensure that multi-agency working is improving outcomes for 
children and adults at risk.  This includes a review of guidance, development of a performance 
framework and programme of auditing, use of outcomes to improve learning and aid/develop 
prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf. 

 
Performance of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB) - Strategic Outcome 2 
 

 We will ensure that the Board demonstrates how it is making a difference to the lives of children 
and adults at risk by strengthening the Performance Management Framework, improving 
methods of evaluation to measure the impact of our work and identify areas of good practice in 
other areas to help improve our work. 

 Ensure the production of relevant, accurate and timely multi-agency data. 

 Improve challenge of safeguarding performance at Board level, identify areas for improvement 
through multi-agency audits and individual agency inspection or annual reports to support 
service improvement. 

 Contribute to the development of a national self-assessment tool to assess the effectiveness of 
the Board in safeguarding children and adults at risk. 

 
Development, implementation and monitoring of protocols and procedures - Strategic Outcome 3 
 

 Contribute to the development of National Protection Procedures for safeguarding children and 
adults. 

 Undertake a review of existing local safeguarding protocols.  We will involve and consult with the 
public in the development of new local protocols and procedures. 

 
Identifying and understanding widespread safeguarding concerns in the area - Strategic Outcome 4 
 

 Ensure that learning identified through safeguarding activities supports the development of 
prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf. 

 Develop a set of principles for transition and identify young people who are likely to be at most 
risk and ensure that partner agencies work together to safeguard and support them through 
transition from childhood to adulthood. 

 Contribute to the national work around managing the process whereby Cwm Taf children are 
placed out of the area and where there are children from outside the area being placed in Cwm 
Taf. 

 

Page 40



 

 21 

 Ensure awareness raising, training and a robust reporting structure is in place to safeguard 
children and adults at risk of criminal exploitation. 

 Partnership working, training and awareness raising with staff and the community to recognise 
early indicators of extremism. 

 Ensure staff are made aware of the National Referral Mechanism process which provides a 
framework to identify, refer and record potential victims of modern slavery.  

 Work in partnership to tackle the issues around violence against women, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence. 

 
Communication - Strategic Outcome 5 
 

 Build better relationships with our community and share information and learning on issues that 
improve awareness of safeguarding. 

 Improve communication and information sharing with staff and professionals. 
 
Practitioners in Cwm Taf receive or have access to good quality and up-to-date safeguarding 
training - Strategic Outcome 6 
  

 Ensure that training is provided on an inter-agency and individual organisational basis to assist in 
the protection and prevention of abuse and neglect of children, young people and adults at risk 
of harm.  This includes identifying training priorities and exploring the delivery and quality of 
training we provide. 

 We will share learning and examples of best practice with all partners via the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board.  

 We will utilise the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board website (www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org) and E-
Bulletin to provide up to date information to practitioners and the public. 

 

Ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their own best interests, need 
care that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent - Strategic 
Outcome 7 
 

 Through the Quality Assurance Sub Group, we will monitor, audit and quality assure the 
effectiveness of the Depravation of Liberty Standards (DoLS) work carried out by partner 
agencies.  This includes implementation of an audit programme to identify themes and lessons 
learned, analyse available data to provide the Board with a better understanding of the 
performance in relation to DoLS. 

 Ensure that training provided to staff is implemented effectively and learning from cases is 
shared and used to improve practice. 

 We will involve people in the DoLS process – this includes seeking opportunities to involve 
people (public, carers etc) and make best use of providers of advocacy services and involve these 
in the management of the DoLS process. 

 We will also evaluate how we are engaging with the people we support to ensure that the voice 
of the person is heard. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


 

 22 

Safeguarding is not just seen as a priority for Cwm Taf.  Safeguarding is also a key priority across all 
Social Services Plans and the Council’s plan for wellbeing (Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 
Community).  A copy of the Council’s ‘Statement of Wellbeing’ and ‘Wellbeing Plan’ can be found in 
the ‘Strategies, Plans and Policies’ section of our website (www.merthyr.gov.uk). 
 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will directly and indirectly contribute to delivery of all  
Wellbeing Objectives – in particular:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and 
participate in society 
 

What did we plan to do last year? 
 
Last year we said we would:   
 

 Ensure that we promote Carers Assessments and the right to care and support for those carers 
who need our help.  

 Work with carers and partners to review the services we provide for carers and identify how they 
can be improved.  

 Support a diverse range of community based options that encourage participation in local 
services, building and maintaining family and community resilience including step down facilities 
away from universal services.  

 Support to maintain and develop the Reablement service.  

 Listen to families to improve our understanding of ‘what good looks like’ for children, young 
people and their families.  This will help us develop clear outcomes for the children, young 
people and families we work with.  

 Work with partners on our Corporate Parenting Board to make sure that we are challenging 
ourselves to constantly improve the lives of looked after young people.  

 Make sure our Regional Partnership Board and Safeguarding Board focusses on children and 
involves them in the work we do and reflects their concerns more extensively.  

 Review current systems of tracking the post 16 plans of children who are looked after, pilot a 
Year 11 CLA focus review meeting format to confirm post 16 plans and identify potential barriers 
to progression.  

 
 
 

Page 42

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


 

 23 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  
 
Following a review of the current services for carers across Cwm Taf which included consultation 
with carers we have agreed that we will continue to work together on a regional basis to improve 
services for carers; we have identified the most effective options for a regional integrated service 
model for Carers and have an implementation plan for working towards this. 
 
We have continued to involve partners and service users in delivering and improving a diverse range 
of community based options that encourage participation in local services, building and maintaining 
family and community resilience including step down facilities away from universal services.  
 
As part of the development of Stay Well @Home we have extended access to our intermediate care 
services to include evenings and weekends to ensure that we provide people with enabling services 
when they need them. 
 
Having listened to families in our understanding of ‘what good looks like’ for children, young people 
and their families, we have developed practice tools and a quality assurance framework to ensure 
we continuously improve in achieving good outcomes for children, young people and their families. 
 
Corporate Parenting Board has continued to drive improvements in services to looked after young 
people including the Pathway to work which has been key to developing skills and employment 
options.  The Celebration event and carers’ recognition events were particularly well received. 
 
We said we would make sure our Regional Partnership Board and Safeguarding Board focusses on 
children and involves them in the work we do and reflects their concerns more extensively. The 
Board has re-established the Engagement and Participation Sub-Group and has produced a draft 
work plan to take this initiative forward.  
 
We have reviewed and improved current systems of tracking the post 16 plans of children who are 
looked after and have increased the educational support that is available.  
 

Last year we asked if you felt you could do the things that you like to do and are important to you? 
 

Out of the 35 children who responded: 
23 said you were able to do the things you like to do 
9 said sometimes you could do the things you like to do 
0  said you couldn’t do the things that you like to do 
3 said they didn’t know or didn’t answer 
 

Out of 176 adults: 
84 said you were able to do the things that were important to you 
48 said sometimes you could do the things that were important to you 
39 said you couldn’t do the things that were important to you 
5 said they didn’t know or didn’t answer 
 

Out of 51 carers who responded: 
24 said you were able to do the things that were important to you 
16 said sometimes you could do the things that were important to you 
7 said you couldn’t do the things that were important to you 
4 said they didn’t know or didn’t answer 

Page 43



 

 24 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 

In 2018/19 it is our intention to: 

 Implement a draft work plan and engage with children and young people to ensure they are 
involved in the work that we do and able to reflect their concerns more extensively.   

 Following further consultation with stakeholders; we will develop and implement our plan for 
improving the Information, Advice and Assistance Service for children, young people and their 
parents or carers.  

 Agree and start to implement our future model for Day Services provision across learning 
disability day services and for people with dementia.  We intend to achieve this through 
implementation of the Learning Disability Statement of Commissioning Intent and the Valleys 
Life Initiative. 

 The Valley LIFE project aims to deliver Local Integrated services for the Frail and Elderly, in 
particular those with early to progressive dementia.  Valley LIFE aims to build a new dynamic 
Health and Wellbeing Hub for older people with cognitive and memory problems on the Keir 
Hardie Health Park site. 

 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will contribute to the delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 

Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy 
domestic, family and personal relationships 
 
We are committed to ensuring that children and young people can have the best start in life.  We do 
recognise that some families need support from us and our partners to support families to remain 
together in a healthy domestic environment.  We also know that on occasion we must intervene 
where issues arise when it is in the best interest of children to do so. 
 

What did we plan to do last year?   
 
Last year we said we would:   
 

 Continue to work to reduce the need for Statutory Services by ensuring that children, young 
people and families have coordinated integrated family support earlier and access to bespoke 
services earlier when it is appropriate to needs. 

Page 44



 

 25 

 Support children who cannot live with their own parents so that they are able to live in suitable 
accommodation in the area to help maintain the important links between young people and their 
communities. 

 Support children and young people who need care and support, and carers who need support, to 
safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal relationships.  Improve the 
safety of victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence and reduce the impact this has on the 
lives of the victims and perpetrators and wider families. 

 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 
 
We said that we would continue to work to reduce the need for Statutory Services by ensuring that 
children, young people and families have coordinated integrated family support earlier and access to 
bespoke services earlier when it is appropriate to needs.   We have found that demand for services 
has increased meaning that we need to continue to work harder and recognise that we may not see 
the benefit of preventative services for some time.  
 
We said we would support children who cannot live with their own parents so that they are able to 
live in suitable accommodation in the area to help maintain the important links between young 
people and their communities.  When a child/young person is accommodated then we do our best to 
place them with extended family (kinship), if deemed appropriate or within an in-house foster 
placement within the Merthyr Tydfil area.  However this isn’t always possible due to resource issues 
(placement availability) and issues around safety. 
 
We said we would support children and young people who need care and support, and carers who 
need support, to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal relationships.  
Improve the safety of victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence and reduce the impact this has 
on their lives of the victims and perpetrators and wider families.  We assess children and young 
people in a timely manner and endeavor to provide the right support, advice and intervention to 
ensure they are safeguarded. 
 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
 

Our aims for 2018/19 include: 
 

 Valley life initiative to redesign services for people with dementia. 

 Progress the recommendations of the regional report for carers. 

 Continuing work aimed at preventing placement breakdown and improving outcomes under the 
Strategy for Success Stability and Transition for looked after young people and care leavers. 

 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will contribute to the delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

Page 45



 

 26 

Working with and supporting people to achieve greater 
economic well-being, have a social life and live in suitable 
accommodation that meets their needs 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   
 

 Develop a wider range of accommodation as alternatives to residential care.    

 Work with Cwm Taf University Health Board to identify how we can pool our resources to 
provide residential and nursing care, through developing a statement of agreement and a joint 
commissioning structure to ensure the care we commission is of the highest quality.   

 Increase foster carers available to children in Merthyr Tydfil.   
 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  
 

As part of the Cwm Taf Health and Social Care Partnership we emphasise prevention, early 
intervention and the promotion of independence.  We want to bring down the demand for long term 
managed care including care home placements. 
 

We will place a continued emphasis on meeting people’s needs in peoples own homes and extra 
care housing facilities and we expect that this will reduce the demand for placements in residential 
care homes significantly. 
 

We recognise that individuals may still choose to move to a residential care home.   
 

Where appropriate we will meet older people’s nursing care needs in the community.  However, we 
expect there will continue to be a significant need for places in nursing homes including (and 
especially) for people with dementia and other mental health problems. 
 

Generally, we will continue to regard care homes as an important part of the range of services that 
are available to people and communities. 
 
We expect to commission significantly fewer residential care home placements over the next 
15 years. 
 
Initially we want to consolidate through our commissioning arrangements more consistent provision 
of high quality dementia care and nursing care in care homes 
 
We would like to work with providers to develop flexible models of short term care in care homes to 
support, for example: 

 Discharge from hospital 

 Assessment 

 Appropriate reablement interventions 

 Strengthen the provision of reliable and accessible respite care in care homes.   
 
 
 

Page 46



 

 27 

 
We have worked with Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) Local Authority, Cwm Taf University Health Board 
(CTUHB) and providers to revise the contract for Care and Nursing homes and are hoping to 
complete this in 2018/19.  As part of this work we have now developed a pooled budget with RCT 
and CTUHB in line with the expectation of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
We have attempted to increase foster carers available to children in Merthyr Tydfil.  However we 
have managed to recruit new carers following a successful advertising campaign but some carers 
have retired and numbers remain the same.  This will be an area we need to continue to address in 
the future.  
 

 

What are our priorities for next year? 
 

 The Cost Calculator and associated pricing policy has been implemented across the floating 
support services within Merthyr Tydfil and is planned to be rolled out across all services.  The 
process establishes a clear and transparent way to fund Supporting People services ensuring 
parity and transparency.  It also ensures that what is being provided is of high quality and is 
delivering meaningful housing related support for citizens of Merthyr Tydfil.  This 
implementation has enabled efficiency savings to be realised for investment in other areas of 
strategic relevance to better meet the needs of our community.  It is the team’s intention to 
implement the pricing policy work across static schemes over the next 18 months.  

 
 
 
 

Standard Yes Sometimes No Don’t know 

Adults reporting that they live in the right 
home for them. 

132 19 13 12 

Children and young people reporting that 
they are happy with whom they live with. 

31 3 0 1 

People reporting they have received care 
and support through their language of 
choice. 
 
Note:  Based on all adults, children and 
carers who responded to the survey. 

235 7 4 16 

Young adults (aged 16-17) reporting they 
received advice, help and support to 
prepare them for adulthood. 
 
Note:  Of those children and young people 
who responded to the survey 8 were aged 
16-17 years old. 

4 2 1 1 

 

 

People reporting, they chose to live in a 
residential care home. 
 
Note:  The majority of Adults (134) who 
responded to the survey didn’t answer this 
question or didn’t feel it applied to them. 

28 1 13 134 

 

 

Page 47



 

 28 

 

 The 2018 Cwm Taf Regional Strategic Plan sets out the future strategic aims and priorities for the 
Regional Collaborative Committee.  The current plan is an update of the three year Regional 
Strategic Plan (2017-2021).  The Strategic Plan details the needs of service users identified in the 
region, the wider national policies that need to be incorporated into service provision as well as 
the priorities the RCC have adopted for the forthcoming financial year.  These include regional 
commissioning, consultation and participation in the full-flexibility pathfinder pilot scheme.  The 
strategic plan includes the most recent outcomes analysis, details of services which have been 
newly commissioned, remodeled or decommissioned and a regional spend plan. 

 Improve the arrangements across the council for transition planning, ensuring that early 
identification maximises opportunities to prevent homelessness, enhance planning and stability 
and improve outcomes. 

 

Progress and priorities for 2018/19 will contribute to delivery of the following Wellbeing 
Objectives:  
 
Best Start to Life 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals  
 
Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 
 

Page 48



 

 29 

 
 

 

Our Workforce and How We Support their Professional 
Roles 
  
Supporting our workforce is fundamental to delivering good quality care to those in Merthyr Tydfil 
who need our help with last year seeing the implementation of a new shared service across Cwm Taf 
with Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC.  The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Plan continues to 
improve the quality and management of social services provision through a planned approach to 
learning, development and qualifications to increase the take-up of learning and development across 
the care sector.  Last year we set out and met the following objectives: 
 

What did we plan to do last year?  
 
Last year we said we would:   
 

 Continue to support social care staff engaged in duties delivered under the new Act to have the 
knowledge, skills and competencies required. 

 Support the implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act by 
supporting the domiciliary care workforce to prepare for registration and supporting knowledge 
of responsible individuals.   

 Support efficient approaches by drawing upon and working with the Social Care Wales national 
plans/programmes: including Step Up to Management; Social Services Practitioners; Middle 
Manager Development Programme; Team Manager Development Programme; and learning and 
development programme for the Acts. 

 Support the Social Work qualifying training and post qualifying training in Wales; support 
frontline social care workers to develop their skills overall in relation to social care, and support 
introduction of the revised induction framework from September 2017; and support the 
infrastructure for learning and development across Wales, including local and regional 
partnership and joint working. 

 

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make? 

 
Training programmes have been continually updated to ensure the principles of the Social Services 
and Wellbeing Act are embedded within the content. 
 
Registered Managers in adult social care services are starting to make considerations about how 
‘wellbeing’ needs to be central to the care that they are delivering.  However, this represents a 
significant cultural shift and more work is needed to re-focus the workforce away from the delivery 
of physical task based care. 
 
When undertaking the Award in Social Care Induction, new staff are expected to demonstrate an 
awareness of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act.  This is formally assessed as part of the 
qualification. 
 

Section 5:   How we do what we do 

Page 49



 

 30 

There has been focused attention in respect of supporting adult care home managers to learn about 
tools that measure quality of life. 
 
Two cohorts of outcome focused care and support planning training were commissioned by 
Dementia Care Matters, a cutting edge change management consultancy.  DCM specialise in the use 
of outcome focused tools in dementia care for leadership and quality assurance purposes.  36 places 
were made available and accepted.  31 managers completed the required 5 day attendance.  Further 
development work is required to check that skills learned are used and embedded at a practical day 
to day level.      
 
2 Social Services Practitioners in Merthyr Tydfil are on target to achieve their qualification on the OU 
sponsored Social Work degree programme in 2018/19. 
 

What are our priorities for next year 

 
In 2018/19 it is our intention to: 
 

 Continue the implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social (Wales) Act including:  
 supporting the domiciliary care workforce to prepare for registration and supporting 

knowledge/role of responsible individuals.   

 Support the training, development and qualification of social care managers: including Step Up to 
Management; Middle Manager Development Programme; Team Manager Development 
Programme; and those requiring registration as managers. 

 Ongoing development of approaches to outcome focussed care and support practice. 

 Support for both Social Work qualifying training and post qualifying training in Wales. 

 Enable frontline social care workers to develop their skills overall in relation to social care, and 
support introduction of the revised induction framework from April 2018. 

 Enable the workforce to meet regulatory requirements for qualification and/or registration using 
guidance available in the Qualification Framework. 

 
 

 

Page 50

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/qualification-framework/


 

 31 

Our Financial Resources and How We Plan For the Future 
 
During 2017/18 we have continued to face financial pressures.  We have been working hard to 
achieve the savings the Council needs, whilst doing our best to ensure that the services we provide 
to you are not adversely affected.  On the whole last year we have managed to achieve this. 
 
We have continued to use the Integrated Care Fund over the past year to plan and develop projects 
working across the region which will directly impact on the public and provide better services.  This 
funding has allowed the development of new initiatives like the Stay Well @ Home Service, which 
has helped prevent people being unnecessarily admitted to hospital and staying in hospital for 
longer than they need to.  
 
In the past two years we have also been able to invest in the regional adoption team and in our 
enhanced child in need service; both of which we hope will help to reduce the number of children 
we need to look after. 
 
We have set up an Anti-poverty steering group to review and monitor the various grants that are 
available in Merthyr Tydfil, with a view to looking at the cross cutting themes between the grants 
and ensuring no duplication of service.  We are also looking at ways to improve preventative work 
with a view to decreasing the impact on statutory services where possible. 
 
A lot of our work is undertaken on a collaborative and regional basis which assists with cost 
pressures and assists with resilience of services. 
 

Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate 
Leadership, Governance and Accountability 
 
Regional partnership working across Cwm Taf; including Cwm Taf University Health Board, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council and the third sector remain strong.  Whether it’s planning our 
workforce needs and training requirements, integrating our service provision or responding to region 
wide challenges, we are doing more collectively to deliver better services. 
 
The Council continues to provide strong leadership and support to staff at all levels, giving direction, 
undertaking scrutiny and considering how social services contribute to the promotion of wellbeing.  
Reports are presented regularly to the Scrutiny Committee and to Cabinet updating members on 
progress, how the financial and demographic challenges are being tackled and how the Council is 
transforming services with its partners. 
 
The regional working through the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Board identified a range of 
priorities for us to deliver and over the past year the partnership has overseen and delivered the 
following work:  
 

 The development of a common Contract and Service specification for Care Homes across the 
region which is currently under discussion with providers. 

 The development of a Market Position Statement. 
 
 

Page 51



 

 32 

 Participation in the National Commissioning Board Market Analysis for care homes, which 
assisted in developing the evidence base for the Market Position Statement.  

 Facilitation of a Regional workshop (with support from the National Commissioning Board) to 
initiate consideration to the options available for the Pooled Fund arrangement. 

 
The Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board published the Regional Plan on 1st April 2018.  
This was following consultation via three community panels held in December 2017.  These focussed 
sessions were made up of individuals who have experience of using health and social care services, 
or who are carers of people who use health and social care services.  Those who attended were 
encouraged to share their own experiences and explore good practice though positive experiences, 
or use negative experiences to frame improvement opportunities. 
 
This was followed by facilitated discussions which focussed on six key areas which reflected the 
overarching themes of the 2017 Population Assessment: 
 

 Getting information, advice and assistance; 

 Stopping problems before they start; 

 Stopping problems before they get worse; 

 Connecting you to your community; 

 Seamless services; and 

 Making it personal and working together with you. 
 

The information gathered at each of the events provided a rich source of information to inform the 
development of the Regional Plan.  It was felt that the priorities and issues identified were broadly 
the right ones.  Running through all three events was the importance of communication, the need 
for good quality information and the value of community assets.  The willingness to engage, 
encourage others to engage and stay involved came though from all the attendees. 
 
The Report of the Community Panels has informed the development of the Regional Plan.  The 
detailed ideas and examples expressed will be fed into the specific pieces of work and the next steps 
we take to develop and deliver on the Actions in the Plan. 
 
The report has also been shared with those responsible for developing and delivering the Cwm Taf 
Well-being Plan as there are many common areas of interest, particularly around the use of existing 
assets and working with communities.  We have taken account of the statutory consultation 
undertaken during October to December 2017 for the Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Plan.  This did 
include a number of responses raising specific issues around health and social care provision, 
including primary care and mental health services as well as identifying the need for improvements 
to transport, the environment and housing.  Whilst some of these areas are not the responsibility of 
the SS&WB Partnership Board, they can impact on people’s well-being and need for care and 
support and we will work with the Cwm Taf Public Services Board on joint actions where 
appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

 33 

 
Additionally there is the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB), which is a merged Public Service Board 
covering the areas of Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf.  The PSB aims to act as the principal 
strategic leadership forum for the planning, commissioning and delivery of public services across 
organisational boundaries to achieve better outcomes for the people of Cwm Taf.  It will seek to 
understand the major issues faced by each partner organisation, to become a more transparent 
Board through publishing data and performance and will move from a reactive to a preventative 
agenda.  Further information about the work of the PSB can be found on its website 
(www.ourcwmtaf.wales).   
 
The ‘Our Cwm Taf’ website brings together the partnership work of the Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board. It offers partners and citizens opportunities to engage with and further understand the key 
role of the board as it develops.  Our Cwm Taf also contains a wealth of information about the 
region. 

Page 53

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 

 34 

 

 
 

This report has been written to give an overview of the success of the Council in delivering effective 
services, and we have used a lot of information, data, reports, surveys etc. to demonstrate what we 
have done.  
 
This report is not the only source of information available to members of the public, key partners 
and service providers.  We have a significant amount of background information that sits behind this 
report and that provides a lot of additional detail about what we do and how we do it.  Importantly if 
something is not mentioned in this report as a key priority it doesn’t mean we’re not doing it, as 
there is a lot of activity across social services that play a part in helping us to provide for some of the 
most vulnerable groups in our community. 
 
The following are just some of the documents that set out what we do in Social Services, as a Council 
and in partnership with others; why we are doing it; what we are doing well and what we need to 
improve on.  Some of these documents can be found in the ‘Strategies, Plans and Policies’ section of 
our website (www.merthyr.gov.uk). 
 

 The Cwm Taf Population Needs Assessment (www.ourcwmtaf.wales) 

 The Cwm Taf Wellbeing Assessment (www.ourcwmtaf.wales) 

 Statement of Wellbeing 2018/19 

 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 2017 to 2022 (2018/19 update) 

 Wellbeing and Service Strategies 

 Departmental and Social Services Scrutiny Committee reports 

 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) reports (www.careinspectorate.wales) 
 

Getting in Touch 
 
You can contact us in the following ways: 
  

Telephone:  (01685) 725000 
 
Email:   ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk   
 
Write to:  Annual Council Reporting Framework 
   Social Services Department 
   Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
   Unit 5, Triangle Business Park 
   Pentrebach 
   Merthyr Tydfil 
   CF48 4TQ 
 

Section 6:   Further information and key documents 

Page 54

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
http://www.careinspectorate.wales/
mailto:ACRF@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

 

Date Written 12th October  2018 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 23rd October  2018 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include:  
 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;  

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;  

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets;  

 Developing safer communities; and  

 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market. 
 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include:  
 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;  

 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 
hierarchy;  

 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 
spaces; and  

 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy. 
 
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include:  
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;  

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience;  

 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;  

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;  

 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home 
 

 
 
 

Page 56



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities? 
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 

Page 57



e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 
 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 

consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 

to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 
e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 
g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 

calls for evidence). 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 

Page 58



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 60



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

12th June 2018 

Annual Work Programme Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee 

To consider and approve the Work Programme for 2018 / 2019 

WCCIS  end of year 
performance update 

Anne Powell / Mark Anderton 
/ Annabel Lloyd 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Summary report – providing a position statement on 
performance reporting developments, reporting timetable and share year 
end data for 2017 / 2018. 
 

Care Inspectorate Wales 
(CIW) Inspection – verbal 
update on feedback 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  CIW verbal update on findings from inspection of 
Children’s Social Services in April / May 2018. 
 
Once final report is available it will be made available to the scrutiny 
committee. 

Barod.Cymru (formerly  
Drugaid)   
  

Sian prior / Rob Parker / Steve 
Peters ?/Lisa Curtis-Jones  
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To receive a presentation from Drugaid on the work 
that they are doing. 

24th July 2018 

Review of residential Services 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton  / Lowri Morgan 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A review of Residential Care Services is currently 
underway.   Scrutiny to be provided with background information and 
findings to date. 
 
 

Update on Regional Strategies Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr Dave 
Hughes 

Provision of an update on regional partnership business.  Update will include 
the following topics:  Carers Strategy; Learning Disability Strategy;  Older 
Persons Strategy and Pooled Budgets. 
 

ACRF – Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr Dave 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a consultation workshop with Scrutiny 
Members; a report summarising key messages from the Annual Report on 
Social Services 2017 / 2018 will be presented for information. 
 
The Annual Report on Social Services will undergo consultation between 4th 
and 15th June 2018.  Following this period of consultation, feedback received 
will be used to help shape and finalise the final report; which will be 
submitted to Welsh Government by 30th June 2018.   
 

P
age 61



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update (7) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton   

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide an update on 
the ongoing strategic work within adult social services and next steps. 
 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending 
Service (YOS) progress update 
(9) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Lyndon Lewis (RCTCBC) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The committee requires a further update on 
progress made in implementation of the post inspection improvement 
action plan. 
 
Previous update received by Social Services Scrutiny Committee on 19th 
September 2018. 
 
The YOS is a multi-agency team which is made up of members of the Police, 
Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse and Social Services; as well 
as other specific to the team.  The YOS deals with young people between the 
ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice system and those 
who are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. 
 

 

Care leavers and number of 
Council tax exemptions 
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services 
Scrutiny on 12th June 2018 (SS 
Scrutiny). 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a brief 
report outlining number of care leavers and number of Council tax 
exemptions 

18th September 
2018 

Looked After Children 
Strategy Update (1) 

Annabel Lloyd / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - An update on progress implementing the LAC 
Strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges.  The Strategy is 
seeking a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years. 
 

Children’s Services Strategy 
Update (8) 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services 
 
 

Children’s and Young People’s 
Plan 
 
As requested by the Chair in 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on the Children’s and Young People’s Plan. 
 
 

P
age 62



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

the 24th July scrutiny. 

Budget Update (10) Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr David 
Hughes / Stacey Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Report to be presented to Scrutiny providing an 
update on Social Services budget overall, areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within 
the department.    
 

Community Zones (3) Lisa Curtis-Jones / Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: - Community Zones is a place based approach 
focussing on support to improve outcomes for residents with the greatest 
challenges.  The Committee requires an update i.e. how the zones are 
progressing; what challenges are being faced; and what performance 
indicators have been developed. 
 

23rd October 2018 

CTSCB / CTSAB Annual 
Reports (2) 

Nicola Kingham and officers / 
Alex Beckham / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - These separate reports summarises the work 
undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during the 
year.  They also summarise the areas of development identified. 
 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board (CTSCB) 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board (CTSAB) 
 
 

Children’s Services Inspection 
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services at 
Scrutiny on 18th September 
2018 (SS Scrutiny). 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide  a summary of the strengths and 
development areas highlighted in the recent Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
Children’s Services Inspection Report 

Early Years Learning 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Chris Hole / 
Cllr David Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Scrutiny to receive a report on progress. 
 

Corporate Parenting Update 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  To provide data and performance in relation to 
Corporate Parenting 
 

4th December 
2018 

Regional Adoption Annual 
Report (4) 

Annabel Lloyd / Angela Harris 
and Rachel Evans (Vale of 
Glamorgan) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide an update on performance in relation to 
our regional adoption collaborative. 
 

P
age 63



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Cwm Taf Integrated Family 
Support Team (IFST) Annual 
Report (6) 

Annabel Lloyd / Jay Goulding 
(RCT) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Annual Report on progress within the Cwm Taf IFST 
and the wider implementation. 
 
 

Adult Services Strategy 
Update (7) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Mark 
Anderton   

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide an update on 
the ongoing strategic work within adult social services and next steps. 
 

 

Budget Update  
 
This is an action request from 
the Chair of Social Services 
Scrutiny on 18th September 
2018 (SS Scrutiny). 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr David 
Hughes / Stacey Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Report to be presented to Scrutiny providing an 
update on Social Services budget for Quarter 1 and Quarter 2, areas of likely 
overspend and the measures that have been put in place to help reduce any 
overspend within the department.    
 

22nd January 2019 

Violence against Women 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Updates 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  / Annabel 
Lloyd / Cllr David Hughes / 
Deborah Evans (SMT) / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Meeting to receive an update on progress in relation 
to the strategy and action plan. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a member of the Cwm Taf Violence 
Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering 
Group, which is the lead partnership taking forward the Cwm Taf regions 
implementation of the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Act 2015. 
 

Tackling Poverty Chris Hole Scrutiny & Challenge: - Looking at the funding flexibilities and the work 
being completed around tackling poverty. 

12th March 2019 

Annual Report - Social 
Services Complaints, 
Representations and 
Compliments 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Jonathan 
Strong / Cllr David Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Local Authorities are required to the Social Services 
Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the 
operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and 
Compliments Policy and Procedures. 
 

P
age 64



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

Children’s Services Strategy 
Update (8) 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide an 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services 
 

23rd April 2019 

ACRF – Draft Annual Report 
on Social Services 2018 / 2019 
Consultation 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Mark 
Anderton / Anne Powell 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Scrutiny to provide comment and challenge in 
relation to the Draft Annual Report on Social Services 2018 / 2019. 
 
Note:  It is likely that consultation with Scrutiny will take place in the form of 
a workshop and the final report presented for information in July 2019. 

CTSCB / CTSAB Annual 
Reports (2) 

Nicola Kingham and officers / 
Alex Beckham / Cllr David 
Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - These separate reports summarises the work 
undertaken by the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during the 
year.  They also summarise the areas of development identified. 
 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board (CTSCB) 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board (CTSAB) 
 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Valleys Life Update on plans and progress (Howard – this is the project Mark made reference to). 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Adult Day Service 
Provision 

Update on the review and re-design of Adult Day Service provision (again, referenced by Mark) 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Social Services Budget 
Updates 

Discussed at the 27th February 2018 meeting to be added to the work programme. 
 
Social Services Budget Updates and a report into the outsourcing (Group Home) Business case and whether it 
would be cheaper for the Authority to take back this service 
 

4th – 15th June 2018 
(Consultation 
Period) – date of 
workshop to be 

ACRF – Annual Report 
on Social Services 
2017 / 2018  

A workshop will be held with Scrutiny during 4th and 15th June (consultation period).  This will provide Scrutiny 
with an opportunity to review and challenge the Draft Annual Report.  Feedback from the workshop will be used 
to help shape the final report.  

P
age 65



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

confirmed 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Presentation: 
Setting the Scene - 
Children Looked After 
& Carer Leavers: 
 
Education/Social 
services 
Lisa Curtis-Jones 
Sue Walker 
Annabel Lloyd 
Sarah Bowen 
Sarah Skuse 
Jessica jones 

Joint meeting with Learning & LAESCYP to discuss :- 
 

 The Story in Merthyr Tydfil  Corporate Parenting responsibilities, SSWB / Children Act duties, Number of 
CLA, Placements etc . 

 Education overview re CLA – Education and LACES 
 
Agenda for Joint Scrutiny –Education and Social Services. June 2018 
 
1. Presentation: 
Setting the Scene - Children Looked After & Carer Leavers: 

 The Story in Merthyr Tydfil  Corporate Parenting responsibilities, SSWB / Children Act duties, Number of 
CLA, Placements etc . 

 Education overview re CLA – Education and LACES 
 
2. Questions on presentation from Scrutiny members 
 
3. Report: 

 What is the data telling us?  2015/16 National and local dataset  as per Stat Wales / PI’s  

 Reminder of our current performance for CLA at all Key stages (where this is available)? 

 What is the range of support offered to our Children Looked After? (including What is the LEA doing to 
directly support schools and school staff (teaching / non teaching) and governing bodies to assist CLA 
learners?) 

 Provide an update on the Pupil Development Grant and how it is being used to benefit Merthyr Tydfil 
Children Looked After . 

 What are the challenges facing the Authority in supporting our Children Looked After? 

 The challenge to All ….    What more can and should we be doing to improve wellbeing outcomes and raise 
educational standards for Merthyr Tydfil Children Looked After?!  
 

4. Questions on report from Scrutiny members 
 

P
age 66


	Agenda
	3 Children’s Services Inspection
	4 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2017-2018
	5 Annual Report on Social Services 2017-2018
	Appendix 1

	6 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2018/19
	Appendix 1


